
Agenda

Tourism Management Review 
Group

Date: Wednesday 20 March 2019

Time: 5.00 pm

Place: Freemen's Room - Oxford Town Hall

For any further information please contact: 
Stefan Robinson
Telephone: 01865 252191
Email: srobinson@oxford.gov.uk

As a matter of courtesy, if you intend to record the meeting please let the 
Contact Officer know how you wish to do this before the start of the meeting.



HOW TO OBTAIN A COPY OF THE AGENDA

In order to reduce the use of resources, our carbon footprint and our costs we will no longer produce 
paper copies of agenda over and above our minimum requirements. Paper copies may be looked at 
the Town Hall Reception and at Customer Services, St Aldate’s and at the Westgate Library

A copy of the agenda may be:-
- Viewed on our website – mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk
- Downloaded from our website
- Subscribed to electronically by registering online at mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk

Tourism Management Review Group
Membership

Chair Councillor Andrew Gant

Councillor Alex Donnelly
Councillor Paul Harris
Councillor Dick Wolff
Councillor James Fry
Councillor Pat Kennedy



AGENDA
Pages

1  WELCOME AND INTRODUCTIONS
Welcome from the Chair and brief round table introductions.

2  APOLOGIES FOR ABSENCE
To receive any apologies for absence.

3  DISCUSSION WITH EXTERNAL GUESTS
As background information, the meeting has also been provided with the 
following papers:
 
a) A scoping document which sets out the purpose of the Review
b) An optional background reading list (hyperlinked)
c) A background report concerning tourism in Oxford
d) A report concerning hotels and short stay accommodation in Oxford
e) A public submission to the Review Group, first considered on 14 March

Guests will be invited to make any opening statements if they wish, and the 
meeting will then move to questions and open discussion. Confirmed external 
guests include:

 Tony Hart, Smart Oxford Programme Manager 
 Phil Southall, Oxford Bus Company 
 Helen Camuñas-Lopez, Christ Church College Visitor Manager
 Tony Joyce, Oxford Civic Society 
 Juliet Blackburn, Chair of the Oxford Civic Society Transport Group
 Tim Wiseman, Oxford City Council Waterways Coordinator 
 Dr Rebecca Hawkins, MD of the Responsible Hospitality Partnership
 Dr Kate Mingjie Ji, Oxford School of Hospitality Management 

Examples of questions and themes that may be discussed include:

a) How could the City better harness the benefits of tourism?
b) How could coach access, parking and drop-off locations be better managed?
c) What actions could be taken to support long term sustainable tourism?
d) What digital innovations could improve the visitor and resident experience?
e) What could be done to improve wayfinding and pedestrian flows in the City?
f) Would there be value in introducing a tourist levy on hotel rooms or coaches?
g) What future tourism challenges will local businesses and operators face?

7
11
13
27
41

4  NEXT STEPS
To clarify the actions agreed and next steps of the review.



5  DATES OF FUTURE MEETINGS
The following dates are scheduled for the Review Group:
 27 March 
 11 April
 9 May



DECLARING INTERESTS

General duty

You must declare any disclosable pecuniary interests when the meeting reaches the item on the 
agenda headed “Declarations of Interest” or as soon as it becomes apparent to you.

What is a disclosable pecuniary interest?

Disclosable pecuniary interests relate to your* employment; sponsorship (ie payment for expenses 
incurred by you in carrying out your duties as a councillor or towards your election expenses); 
contracts; land in the Council’s area; licenses for land in the Council’s area; corporate tenancies; 
and securities.  These declarations must be recorded in each councillor’s Register of Interests which 
is publicly available on the Council’s website.

Declaring an interest

Where any matter disclosed in your Register of Interests is being considered at a meeting, you must 
declare that you have an interest.  You should also disclose the nature as well as the existence of 
the interest.

If you have a disclosable pecuniary interest, after having declared it at the meeting you must not 
participate in discussion or voting on the item and must withdraw from the meeting whilst the matter 
is discussed.

Members’ Code of Conduct and public perception

Even if you do not have a disclosable pecuniary interest in a matter, the Members’ Code of Conduct 
says that a member “must serve only the public interest and must never improperly confer an 
advantage or disadvantage on any person including yourself” and that “you must not place yourself 
in situations where your honesty and integrity may be questioned”.  What this means is that the 
matter of interests must be viewed within the context of the Code as a whole and regard should 
continue to be paid to the perception of the public.

*Disclosable pecuniary interests that must be declared are not only those of the member her or himself but 
also those member’s spouse, civil partner or person they are living with as husband or wife or as if they were 
civil partners.



This page is intentionally left blank



The Tourism Management Review Group
Scoping Document

March 2019

Chair Councillor Andrew Gant
Membership Councillors; Pat Kennedy, James Fry, Alex Donnelly, Paul Harris and Dick 

Wolff.
Officer 
support 

The Scrutiny Officer will support the Review Group around existing committee 
and panel commitments. Approximately 10 hours a week will be dedicated to 
producing meeting notes, agendas, organising guests, research and drafting 
reports. Council officers will also provide technical advice, though their 
capacity to support the review may be limited among other commitments. 

Background 
and rational

Oxford is a tourism gateway to the rest of Oxfordshire. The City attracts 7 
million annual visitors, and tourism generates over £780 million of income for 
local businesses, whilst supporting 12% (14,000 jobs) of jobs in the City. In 
terms of overseas visitors to the UK, Oxford is the seventh most visited city 
for staying visits. The City is famed for its heritage, and has numerous 
attractions (many of which are linked to the university), including the 
Ashmolean Museum, Pitt Rivers Museum, University Museum of Natural 
History, University Botanic Gardens, Sheldonian Theatre, Christ Church, 
Radcliffe Camera and Holywell Music Rooms. 

With predicted visitor numbers set to increase, the growth of tourism in a 
small medieval city brings with it some challenges. Particular issues have 
been raised by councillors and local residents relating to:

 Overcrowding on central pavements, particularly by large tour groups
 Coaches parking over cycle lanes and in inappropriate areas
 The condition of the public realm and public facilities in the city centre
 The need for pedestrian flows to be managed in an effective way. 
 Street clutter, narrow footways and limited space for seating

However, the significant benefits of tourism in the City should not be lost in 
this discussion. The resource requirements to address some of these issues 
are significant, and any solutions will need to involve the views of various 
stakeholders, with the City Council being only one of the interested 
organisations. The bus companies, tour operators, County Council and 
universities have been identified as key stakeholders in this area. The Council 
currently subsidises the not-for-profit organisation Experience Oxfordshire to 
promote the region as a place to live, work, visit and do business.

Purpose of 
the Review 

The Review Group will carry out a review of Oxford’s visitor welcome, and the 
current partnership approach to destination management. This will involve 
working with stakeholders to identify opportunities for improving the visitor 
and resident experience, with a focus on improving the coordination of the 
tourism offering. The review will not seek to duplicate any work already 
underway. 

It is expected that any recommendations from the Review Group will consider 
the financial implications of such changes, and where funding might be made 
available. Specific areas to consider are:

7

Agenda Item 3



1. Is there a clear vision for tourism management in Oxford, and are 
partners aware of it?

2. How might the Council and its partners support private organisations to 
innovate? For example, the development of a city card for attractions and 
transport, or a city app.

3. What destination management model is best suited to Oxford?
4. What are the risks and benefits associated with the current and predicted 

number of visitors, particularly during peak season? 
5. What are partners plans to manage rising numbers of visitors?
6. What are other cities doing to promote and manage tourism that Oxford is 

not doing already, and what lessons can be learnt? 
7. How are tourism management activities funded and resourced?
8. What work is planned to improve the public realm? 

Indicators of 
Success

1. The majority of recommendations are agreed and implemented.
2. A strong evidence base is produced to support current or alternative 

arrangements in relation to tourism management. 
3. That the Council and other stakeholders are clear about their role in 

managing increasing numbers of visitors to the City.
4. A strengthening of relationships between the Council, local partners and 

stakeholders in the tourism sector. 
5. Stimulating public conversation in relation to tourism management. 

Out of scope The impact of the Westgate Centre was being reviewed by the Scrutiny 
Committee in December 2018, and therefore should not be considered in 
detail by this review group at this time. 

Method /
Approach

The Review Group will firstly hear from officers about the Council’s role in the 
tourism management function, and what work is underway in this area. It will 
also hear from Experience Oxfordshire. The Review Group will then 
undertake a series of evidence gathering exercises to meet the purpose of the 
review with stakeholders, experts and other guests.

This will involve gathering information on the challenges that are presently 
experienced as a result of high numbers of visitors, as well as the benefits. 
The Review Group will then explore how other cities manage tourism, and 
what lessons can be learnt or transferred to Oxford. This includes reviewing 
different models of destination management by public and private sector 
providers. 

The Review Group will conclude by meeting to reflect on the evidence 
gathered, and agree its recommendations. Recommendations will be specific, 
measurable, achievable, realistic and timely (SMART). 

The Scrutiny Officer will support the Review Group by producing a detailed 
report of its work, the evidence gathered, and the recommendations agreed, 
with an accompanied rationale for the recommendations made.
 

Specify Site 
Visits

A possible visit to Cambridge and/or Bath

Proposed 
start date

21 February 2019 Draft Report 
Deadline

Report to 15 May 2019 
Scrutiny Committee

Meeting 
Frequency

~ 6 meetings Projected 
completion date

Reports to 21 May 2019 CEB 

8



Draft outline of meetings
14 March 2019: Meeting stakeholders, service providers and experts part 1
The Review Group will meet with stakeholders to:
 Understand perspectives on managing increasing visitor numbers (e.g wayfinding)
 Discuss ideas for innovation in the tourism offer (e.g visitor card, visitor levies)
 Consider where the Council can support stakeholders on matters of mutual interests 
 Discuss possible recommendations that could be made as a result of the review.

Confirmed guests thus far include:
 Sushila Dhall, Oxford Pedestrians Association
 Jeremy Mogford, Mogford Hotels and Restaurants 
 Felicity Lewington, Oxford Guild of Tour Guides
 Rob Hough, Oxford Tube Operations Manager 
 Reverend William Lamb, University Church of St Mary the Virgin
 Martin Kraftl, Oxfordshire County Council Principal Transport Planner
 Jack Creeber, Interim Parking Manager 

20 March 2019: Meeting stakeholders, service providers and experts part 2
Confirmed guests thus far include:

 Tony Hart, Smart Oxford Programme Manager 
 Phil Southall, Oxford Bus Company 
 Helen Camuñas-Lopez, Christ Church College Visitor Manager
 Tony Joyce, Oxford Civic Society 
 Juliet Blackburn, Chair of Civic Society Transport Group
 Tim Wiseman, Oxford City Council Waterways Coordinator 
 Dr Rebecca Hawkins, MD of the Responsible Hospitality Partnership
 Dr Kate Mingjie Ji, Oxford School of Hospitality Management 

27 March 2018: Destination Management 
The Review Group will explore how other cities manage tourism, and what lessons can 
be learnt or transferred to Oxford. This includes reviewing different models of destination 
management by the public and private sector. Confirmed guests thus far include:

 Leslie Redwood, Visit Bath 
 Joanna Simons, Experience Oxfordshire
 Hayley Beer-Gamage, Experience Oxfordshire
 Tim Jenkins, VisitBritain Policy and Public Affairs Manager
 Rachael Farrington, VisitBritain Senior Policy and Public Affairs Executive

11 April 2019: Agreement of recommendations and Conclusions
The Review Group will review the evidence it has received and form recommendations. 
This should include discussion with the relevant officers about the feasibility and costs 
associated with implementing any recommendations, prior to submission to CEB.

9 May 2019: Agreement of Final Review Group Report 
The Review Group will review the draft report provided by the Scrutiny Officer, and 
identify changes needed prior to submission to Scrutiny and CEB. The level of changes 
required may affect whether this is considered by CEB in May or June. 

9



This page is intentionally left blank



1

Appendix 1 - Suggested Reading List
All documents are hyperlinked. Please click to access documents

Document  Title Description
National Guidance

1 LGIU guide on the role of LA’s in tourism Discusses the economic importance of tourism. 
Various case studies of LA investment in tourism. 

2 Tourism Sector Deal Background Government announced a 2018 deal to invest in 
the sector, recognising its economic importance.

3 Visit Britain Guidance for City Centre 
Management 

Essential reading of UK case studies including 
Bath and Cambridge. Discusses the use of digital 
marketing and BIDs in particular.

4 Visit Britain: Destinations for all Discusses ways for cities of become more 
accessible for people with disabilities.  

Oxford City Documents
5 Visit Britain: Oxford Destination Report 2015 – 2018 data on visitor perceptions of Oxford
6 Oxford City Centre Movement and Public 

Realm Strategy
Identifies and discusses key challenges for the 
City Centre such as numerous tourist coaches, 
with possible solutions on p.96/97. 

7 Oxford Local Plan Draft Submission This new Local Plan will determine the homes, 
jobs, community facilities and infrastructure for 
the next twenty years in Oxford.

8 Oxford Transport Strategy A County Council document setting out travel 
challenges associated with Oxford’s growth. 

9 Oxford City Tourism Report 2014 Sets out visitor numbers to key attractions.
Research Reports

10 Understanding and overcoming the 
impacts of tourism in cities

An academic discussion on the nature of 
resident/visitor conflicts. 

11 Cultural Cities Enquiry – February 2019 New report recommending that the UK 
investigates the use of a Tourism Tax / Levy. 

12 Coping with success. Managing 
Overcrowding in Tourism Destinations 

Discusses easing visitor congestion over time and 
space in a City. The detailed paper also 
discusses accommodation supply and pricing. 

13 Sydney Wayfinding Strategy Presents signage and wayfinding options.
14 Edinburgh Transient Visitor Levy 

Research report
A detailed report making the case for a transient 
visitor levy or ‘tourism tax’ in Edinburgh. 

15 Introducing a congestion charge Sets out the legislative basis for introducing a 
local congestion scheme. 

16 Schedule of cities charging coaches  A list of European cities charging coaches to 
enter. Costs based on vehicle emissions. 

17 Tourism Levy Options for London Sets out how a tourism tax could work in London, 
and arguments for and against (p.12).

18 Parliament Briefing: Tourism statistics 
and policy 

Key national data concerning rising inbound 
tourism and the impact of Brexit. 

19 Experience Oxfordshire: The Economic 
Impact of Tourism 2016

Sets out the number of trips, stays, visitor spend 
and economic impact of tourism in Oxfordshire.

Media Reports
20 Bath considers congestion charge Suggestions of a charge for high emitting 

coaches in Bath. 
21 Entering Rome by Coach Coaches to be charged 1000 euros to enter 

Rome City Centre.
22 Tourist numbers soar in Oxford Oxford visitors peak at 16000 a day.

11

http://www.lgiu.org.uk/wp-content/uploads/2014/11/Local-authorities-and-tourism.pdf
https://www.visitbritain.org/sector-deal-uk-tourism
https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/Documents-Library/documents/England-documents/guidance_on_city_centre_management.pdf
https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/Documents-Library/documents/England-documents/guidance_on_city_centre_management.pdf
https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/dmo_guide_final.pdf
https://www.visitbritain.org/sites/default/files/vb-corporate/Documents-Library/documents/England-documents/oxford.pdf
https://www2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/roadsandtransport/transportpoliciesandplans/areatransportstrategies/oxford/03001-FinalReport-RevC2.pdf
https://www2.oxfordshire.gov.uk/cms/sites/default/files/folders/documents/roadsandtransport/transportpoliciesandplans/areatransportstrategies/oxford/03001-FinalReport-RevC2.pdf
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/downloads/file/5101/oxford_local_plan_2036_-_proposed_submission_draft
https://www.oxfordshire.gov.uk/residents/roads-and-transport/connecting-oxfordshire/area-strategies
https://www.oxford.gov.uk/download/downloads/id/2629/74_sustainable_tourism.pdf
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1108/JTF-04-2017-0022
https://www.emeraldinsight.com/doi/pdfplus/10.1108/JTF-04-2017-0022
https://www.corecities.com/sites/default/files/field/attachment/Cultural%20Cities%20Enquiry%20%5Bweb%5D.pdf
https://www.wttc.org/-/media/files/reports/policy-research/coping-with-success---managing-overcrowding-in-tourism-destinations-2017.pdf
https://www.wttc.org/-/media/files/reports/policy-research/coping-with-success---managing-overcrowding-in-tourism-destinations-2017.pdf
https://www.cityofsydney.nsw.gov.au/__data/assets/pdf_file/0006/216393/Legible-Sydney-Wayfinding-Strategy_Part1of2.pdf
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/57232/item_83_-_edinburgh_transient_visitor_levy
http://www.edinburgh.gov.uk/download/meetings/id/57232/item_83_-_edinburgh_transient_visitor_levy
http://researchbriefings.files.parliament.uk/documents/SN01171/SN01171.pdf
https://www.grouptravel-europe.com/pdf/parking_and_permits_tourist_coaches_italy.pdf
https://www.london.gov.uk/sites/default/files/tourism-levy-for-london-wp83.pdf
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06022
https://researchbriefings.parliament.uk/ResearchBriefing/Summary/SN06022
https://www.experienceoxfordshire.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Economic-Impact-of-Tourism-Oxfordshire-2016.pdf
https://www.experienceoxfordshire.org/wp-content/uploads/2017/06/Economic-Impact-of-Tourism-Oxfordshire-2016.pdf
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/news/2018/04/04/bath-could-become-first-outside-london-charge-cars-drive-centre/
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/news/Rome-to-increase-tourist-tax-in-Holy-Year-to-ease-coach-congestion/
https://www.oxfordmail.co.uk/news/16370153.tourist-numbers-in-oxford-soar-to-16000-a-day/


This page is intentionally left blank



Tourism Management Scrutiny Group Report: 14 March 2019

1. Purpose of Report

For a long time, tourism has been considered as a low environmental impact industry with few 
externalities associated with it. More recently it has become accepted that tourism demand has 
significant economic impact at both the macro and micro level by modifying the demand and 
supply of certain goods and services. Some of these impacts and externalities are positive i.e. 
jobs, growth in business revenues but there are also some negative impacts – congestion, 
pollution, rising demand for public goods paid for by local residents for example. 

In line with the separate Scoping Document, this report aims to provide an over-arching context 
and outline the following:

 Oxford’s offer and performance as a tourist destination
 Oxford City Council’s role in tourism management, and 
 Other background information linked to the requirements of the Scoping Document.

The report is starting point for the collation of a wider base of evidence to support the findings of 
the scrutiny group.

2. Oxford’s Tourism Offer 

We are fortunate to have a standout visitor offer in Oxford with the potential to appeal to a broad 
range of tastes. The city welcomes an estimated 8 million visitors each year, creating significant 
economic and cultural benefits, alongside associated demands and costs.

Oxford’s history and academic pedigree shapes its global brand. In addition to the Colleges and 
grounds of the University of Oxford and circa 1,500 listed buildings dating from the 11th century 
onwards, the city has numerous cultural attractions with a significant concentration of them in the 
city centre such as the Ashmolean Museum, Pitts Rivers, Museum of Natural History, Weston 
Library, Martyrs’ Memorial, Radcliffe Square and the Castle together with the Sheldonian Theatre, 
New Theatre and Playhouse. 

Oxford is flat and compact, with many of its major attractions, such Oxford Castle, and its centrally 
located parks, rivers and gardens. A range of events are held throughout the year with a range of 
walking and also bus tours all year round. Oxford’s literary history and attractiveness as a filming 
location add to the diversity of the offer, as does Westgate, Oxford’s newest shopping and leisure 
experience, which can reach a new visitor demographic. Cinema, music, theatre, comedy and a 
range of dining options add further the diversity of the offer, with rooftop bars and dining. Oxford’s 
offer is beyond that of most cities its size.

Oxford is also easy to reach from London and Birmingham, as well as the major airports in the 
area. It is also an ideal point from which to explore other attractions such as Blenheim, Bicester 
Village and the Cotswolds.

3. Oxford’s Performance as a Visitor Destination

3a. Economic Impact of Tourism 2014-17

The economic impact of tourism to Oxford and Oxfordshire has continued to grow with the value of 
visitor expenditure now exceeding £2 billion per year for the very first time. We welcome over 27 
million visitors a year to Oxfordshire (7.55M trips and £873m value in Oxford) and the sector 
supports nearly 35,000 jobs - one in every 10 jobs across the County.

Annual reports, commissioned by Experience Oxfordshire examine the volume and value of 
tourism and the gross positive impacts of visitor expenditure on the local economy. They provide 13



comparative data against previously published data, with a one year lag. The results are derived 
using the Cambridge Economic Impact Model.  The three key surveys used to measure volume 
and expenditure from tourism trips are the GB Tourism Survey (domestic overnight trips), the 
International Passenger Survey, and the GB Day Visitor Survey.  Moreover, data from 
accommodation occupancy and visitors to visitor attractions is used to estimate year-on-year 
changes in the volume and value of tourism related visits. The accuracy of these sources varies 
and results should be regarded as estimates which are indicative of the scale and importance of 
visitor activity in the area. Sample sizes change year on year, so results are best viewed as a 
snapshot. The year on year comparisons below are thus provided with caution.   

                Figure 1: Year on year performance – Cambridge Model estimates

3b. Visitor Perceptions

Since April 2015, the national tourist boards of VisitEngland, VisitScotland and Visit Wales have 
been tracking visitor perceptions of destinations across GB in a continuous weekly tracking study. 
In 2018, VisitEngland commissioned the production of several destination summary reports, 
drawing on the findings from the continuous tracking data, for all destinations where sample sizes 
were sufficiently robust. The sample base for the study is GB holiday takers – those who have 
taken a GB break in the past 12 months or are expecting to in the next 12 months.  These tracked 
loyalty, satisfaction and perceptions.

Loyalty Ladder Oxford average City/Large towns 
average

GB destination 
average

Loyal 13% 18% 17%
Considerers 51% 49% 48%
Rejecters 29% 24% 25%

Satisfaction 39% 48% 49%
Likelihood to revisit 7.9 8.4 8.4

           Fig2: Visit Britain Visitor Perceptions, 2018

Further information on Visitor perceptions of Oxford’s characteristics and aspects of its welcome 
can be found in Appendix 1. 

14



3d. City Centre Footfall
Oxford City Council monitors footfall in the city centre on Cornmarket Street, Queen Street and 
George Street.

          Figure 4: Springboard Footfall measures in Oxford, 2014-2018

In the first half of 2018 eight per cent more people visited the city centre compared to the same 
period last year bucking national trends which have seen footfall dropping for the past year. 
Nationally the rate of decline in January is now slowing year on year and despite local footfall also 
dropping Oxford is still achieving the same levels of footfall it was 2 years ago.

             Figure 5: Footfall measure by street January 2019.

The decline in recent footfall figures is likely to be reflective of the continuing change in shopping 
habits and the usual post-Christmas slump rather than a decrease in tourist numbers. 

3e. Hotels and Short Stay Accommodation

As of 2017, Business rates data showed that there were 26 hotels and 46 guest houses in the city. 
In the previous 5 years the hotel supply had increased by 17.6% and the guest house supply had 
reduced by 6.9%. 15



Recent research undertaken by the City Council shows the following overall increase in hotel 
provision since the earlier study was carried out in March 2007. This assessment is based on the 
data collected and published as part of the Annual Monitoring Reports (AMRs) for the following 
eight years up to 2015. The table below shows published position, taken from the 2015/2016 
AMR. 601 additional rooms have been given permission since, taking the estimated total, once 
completed, to over 3,200.

Figure 3: Hotel room data: Oxford City Council AMR

There has been considerable investment activity in the hotels sector in Oxford over the past 5-10 
years. Below is a summary of large hotel planning permissions in the last two years:-

 180 bed Easyhotel in Summertown
 180 bed hotel at Cooper Callas site on Paradise Street
 90 rooms at Greyfriars Court, Paradise Square
 43 rooms at 15-19 George Street
 Holiday Inn, Peartree - erection of four-storey extension to hotel
 71 bed Travelodge at Templar Square
 A range of other smaller extensions.

4. Oxford City Council’s Current Role in Tourism Management 

4a. City Centre Management

As previously highlighted, with such a concentration of tourist attractions located in Oxford’s City 
Centre, tourism is a significant priority within city centre management and vice versa. In 2016, as 
part of strategic planning for the city centre a series of City Centre Visioning Workshops were held 
for key stakeholders. Four strategic themes and two Operational Themes were identified.

Strategic Themes:

 Wellbeing:  to make the city centre look and feel attractive, clean, green, sustainable, safe 
and well regulated

 Movement:  to ensure effective transport and pedestrian access to and within the city 
centre.

16



 Experience:  to promote a diverse range of activities that meets the needs of a modern 
economy and contributes to Oxford as a world-class city. This is to include promoting first 
class customer service and visitor welcome across the city.

 Appeal/Attraction:  to celebrate the history and diversity of Oxford and make the city feel 
more vibrant, alive with people and inclusive for all. 

Operational Themes:

 Management:  to facilitate debate on managing the interface of all stakeholders in the city 
centre and investigate the optimum way to manage the issues facing the centre. 

 Promotion:  to invest in world reaching promotion that Oxford is a great place to live, work, 
shop, visit, invest and enjoy.

All of these themes include a component that relates to tourists and the impact of tourism on the 
city centre such as improving the public realm. For example Oxford has a highly attractive historic 
environment of national significance but there are however opportunities to better realise its 
potential through environmental improvements to the public realm and creating a more legible way 
of connecting different parts of the centre together (see Appendix 2). The recent redevelopments 
of Frideswide Square, Westgate Shopping centre and the current redevelopment of Northgate 
House provide a catalyst to kick-start this approach, but this needs to be explored in detail through 
a review of the public realm, which the City Centre Manager is currently carrying out. This review 
will identify those streets and squares within the City centre that are failing to contribute to the 
intrinsic character of the area and suggest how this could be fully realised in association with 
partner organisations. 

Alongside a public realm review, an update of the street-scene manual is required. The City and 
County Councils are committed to continually improving the appearance and function of the city 
centre’s streets and spaces and as such this document which sets out a palette of acceptable 
materials to be used now needs updating. 

Many City Centre Stakeholders anecdotally report a desire for more pedestrianisation in the city 
centre to improve the environment, accessibility and ease pedestrian congestion which is often 
attributed on the millions of tourists visit the city. A city centre consultation will be held on the 
standards of the city centre environment to back up these anecdotal aspirations.

The stakeholder workshops also focused on the need for clearer signage and wayfinding across 
the city. Hidden gems such as the Covered Market and access to the river frontages are not 
signposted clearly. The route from the station to the centre is also cited as poorly signposted. This 
is an issue and clearly needs improving to create a better destination. The current wayfinding 
scheme was delivered in 2012 but due to major redevelopments in the city centre since then many 
signs need updating however there has been no budget allocated since 2012 to do this. The 
Oxford Explore wayfinding system used cutting edge technology when it was first introduced but 
the QR code system is now well established and the system could be more user-friendly.

4b. Visitor Welcome Workshop 2015

In early 2015, the OSP undertook some partnership work on Oxford’s Visitor Welcome mapping 
the visitor experience and studying satisfaction levels and asking;

1. Functional - Do we have what our visiting customers need?

2. Accessible - How easy is Oxfordshire to visit and explore?

3. Emotional - How do visitors feel when they are here?
17



It asked what needs to change? What actions are needed How do we deliver those?

Priorities were identified including

• People 

• Place

• Tourism Services

• Travel & Transport

• Marketing and Information

An outline plan to improve the welcome was developed. Some elements of this have been 
implemented by partners since such as improvements by Oxford Bus Company with their Park & 
Ride Service, raising awareness of service levels among the taxi trade (public and private), and 
efforts to improve information provision. Yet, much of the work was not adequately resourced.

Reviewing this work, what went well and the lessons from it will be important in the scrutiny review 
process

4c. Regeneration and Development Role

The West End of Oxford is to undergo comprehensive redevelopment - expanding the city centre 
to the west - as a series of strategic developments take shape. Following the £440m Westgate 
development will be Oxpens. OXWED, as a joint venture between the Council and Nuffield 
College, owns the Oxpens site, which will be transformed into a new neighbourhood with a hotel, 
up to 500 new homes, together with around 12,000 m2 of offices and commercial space. 
Academic buildings, new homes, and commercial space will create a new cluster of working and 
living space, and importantly, new public spaces. The expansion of rail services at Oxford Station 
and proposed landmark station building with transport interchange has great potential to attract 
new tourists and dramatically improve the arrival experience for visitors. A hotel is proposed.

Osney Mead Industrial Estate is within walking distance of Oxford station, and fronts the Thames. 
This 18 Hectare site, regarded as an under-utilised industrial estate in need of modernisation is 
subject of emerging plans to transform the area into a new ‘innovation district’ that can harness the 
economic potential of Oxford’s diverse knowledge base in specialist digital and engineering 
activities. The site also offers the potential to create much needed new public spaces and enhance 
walking and cycling connectivity with the adjacent city centre.

4d. Planning Role: Oxford Local Plan 2036

The Local Plan seeks to encourage sustainable tourism through Policy V5. It seeks to manage the 
negative impacts of day visitors through the management of coaches and congestion of the 
arterial roads and public realm of the city centre; and encourage tourists to stay longer through 
new short-stay accommodation and tourist attractions in locations where they are easily 
accessible through sustainable travel (e.g. City and district centres or those with good access).

Planning permission will be granted for new tourist attractions where proposals are realistically 
and easily accessible by walking, cycling or public transport for the majority of people travelling to 
the site will not cause environmental or traffic impacts; and they are well related to any existing or 
proposed tourist and leisure related areas; and add to the cultural diversity of Oxford.

4e. Funding and Investment attraction

The City Council will seek to attract public and private investment for vital infrastructure or tourism 
product as part of its aims to create a successful and sustainable economy. Experience 

18



Oxfordshire has also been successful attracting funds from Government for Tourism promotion 
and from its tourism sector partners to promote the county-wide offer. 

Oxford City Council is currently eligible to bid for a portion of the £675 million Future High Streets 
Fund which has been set up to help local areas respond to and adapt to the changes the High 
Street is facing. It will serve two purposes: it will support local areas to prepare long-term 
strategies for their high streets and town centres, including funding a new High Streets Taskforce 
to provide expertise and hands-on support to local areas. It will also then co-fund with local areas 
projects including investment in physical infrastructure, including improving public and other 
transport access, improving flow and circulation within a town / city centre, congestion-relieving 
infrastructure, other investment in physical infrastructure needed to support new types of use and 
heritage asset development. Council Officers are currently exploring the potential of this fund to 
contribute to the Council’s overall economic, city centre and sustainability aims. 

Business Improvement District: The introduction of a Business Improvement District (BID) in 
Oxford City Centre remains an opportunity to finance the management of tourism. A BID is a 
business-led and business funded body formed to improve a defined commercial area. The 
potential benefits and uses of BIDs are wide-ranging and funded activity might include:

 Enhanced marketing and promotion

 Spend on infrastructure, movement and environment 

 Place shaping activity

 Facilitated networking opportunities with neighbouring businesses

 Staff resource for management and ambassadorship.

A BID is funded through the BID levy, which is normally between 1% and 1.5% of the 
hereditament's rateable value. Once a ballot is successful the BID levy is mandatory for all eligible 
businesses above the threshold set in the BID proposal. BIDs can choose to exempt certain 
businesses from paying the levy (and therefore from voting in the BID ballot). Many BIDs exempt 
the smallest businesses; and some exempt certain business sectors.

CIL/S106: As city centres continue to transition into the future there will need to be more of an 
experiential offer, improved Streetscene and visitor management within the public realm. Public art 
is a particularly good way of achieving this and can be used strategically to change and influence 
the way visitors move around a city centre.

Tourism Levy: A number of places have started exploring the case for levying forms of tourism tax. 
Indeed tourism levies operate in a number of EU cities or towns. A number of councils in the UK, 
Birmingham, Brighton, Edinburgh, Cornwall and most recently Bath councils have all discussed 
the possibility of introducing a tourist tax but none have gone ahead yet. 

Edinburgh councillors have voted in favour for what could be the UK’s first. The Transient Visitor 
Levy (TVL) scheme would include a flat £2 per night room charge, applicable to all types of 
accommodation apart from campsites. It will only come into effect once the Scottish Parliament 
passes enabling legislation, and would raise £14.6m each year. Birmingham is the most likely 
candidate to take this forward in England at present, but this will be within the context of them 
hosting the Commonwealth Games – the levy will be targeted, hypothecated and time limited (as 
was the Olympic tax in London).  

The basic principle of a tourist tax is that it provides a means to generate additional funding for the 
tourism industry (e.g. museums and galleries) and/or funding for public services used by tourists. 

19



There are several ways in which a tourist levy could be introduced. However, it is understood that 
the city would need to obtain central government approval (probably through primary or secondary 
legislation possibly through a Parliamentary Act). This would require the council to clearly 
articulate; 

• How would a tourism levy be charged and at what rate?
• How would it be collected and administered?
• What exemptions would apply?
• How much revenue could be raised?
• How would it be spent and under what governance arrangements?

A local tourist tax is only likely to be acceptable if a local authority can demonstrate that:

• there is a robust evidence base that the local economy could support the introduction of the 
tax, including the likely start-up, collection and enforcement costs;

• existing alternatives, such as Business Improvement Districts, have been fully considered;
• there is local support for the tax (a referendum of some sort); and
• the scheme has been developed in partnership with local businesses and residents, who 

should continue to have a voice in the evolution and review of the scheme. 

In considering a local levy, the council would have to make a very robust case or rationale for the 
levy including how it will effectively target this. It would also need to undertake the cost benefit 
analysis of administering it including mitigating the unintended consequences. As an alternative to 
the taxation of bed spaces in hotels, there may also be options for introducing a local road charge 
for high emitting coaches, for example, although this would be for the County Council to decide, 
and has yet to be explored.

4f. Street-scene services; waste collection & deliveries:  Getting the everyday services right is 
imperative to the successful operation of the city centre and providing a clean and safe 
environments for its visitors.  The City Council has set out ‘Street-scene and Ground Maintenance 
Service Standards’ which highlight that shopping areas of high footfall are swept daily as are the 
bins emptied daily. It sets out how businesses can report problems and there is an undertaking to 
provide extra cleaning within one working day of a report. Feedback on services is sought 
regularly by the City Centre Manager and the service standards are regularly reviewed. 

Arranging for the collection of commercial waste is the responsibility of individual businesses. 
Regulations are in place on the timings of collections and when waste can be placed outside 
premises for collection in the main retail areas.  The County Council, as Highways Authority, 
regulates delivery timings across the city centre. In general deliveries are permitted outside the 
hours 10am to 6pm. Enforcement of these regulations will become even more essential post 
Westgate re-opening with greater traffic in the City

City Ambassadors are recruited by Oxford City Council to identify problems across the City and 
report back to Enforcement Officers if action is required. Two Ambassadors work 6 days a week, 6 
hours a day.

5. Destination management function and coordination

VisitEngland’s 2014 Guidance Document on City Centre Management and the Visitor Economy 
states City or town centre management is often described as ‘a coordinated pro-active initiative 
designed to ensure that town and city centres are desirable and attractive places’. Town Centre 
Management, in particular in its most recent incarnation Business Improvement Districts (BIDs), 
often has a mandate for marketing the place. Destination management is a process of leading, 
influencing and coordinating the management of all the aspects of a destination that contribute to 
a visitor’s experience. Destination Management Organisations (DMOs) are involved in developing 
product, setting out what is needed in terms of physical improvement, service standards and 20



facilities in order to meet the growing expectations of tourists and delivering initiatives to meet 
those expectations. Although the most visible output of destination management is often the 
marketing so there is a misconception that it is a marketing based activity. In many cases DMOs 
cover a much wider geography than a town or city centre. The reality is often not that clear cut and 
every local area has variations and as local priorities and funding levels change the work of 
destination management and city or town teams cross over. Regardless of local roles and 
responsibilities between delivery organisations the functions are interdependent and each type of 
organisation has expertise that should be shared and activity that should be aligned to enable 
each to maximise the growth potential for local areas.

           Figure 6: Guidance Document | City Centre Management and the Visitor Economy | VisitEngland |

5a. Experience Oxfordshire, Board membership role 

Experience Oxfordshire (EO) is the official Destination Management Organisation (DMO) for 
Oxfordshire. Experience Oxfordshire is the trading arm of the parent charity, the Experience 
Oxfordshire Charitable Trust, and are a not-for-profit partnership organisation that is committed to 
the promotion, management and development of Oxfordshire as a great destination to live, work, 
visit and do business. EO work with businesses to grow and develop the visitor economy and work 
to ensure that Oxfordshire becomes a leading destination for tourism, culture and business.
They have a growing Partnership network of businesses spanning all parts of the visitor economy 
and through effective collaboration are working to ensure that Oxfordshire is a world renowned 
destination of choice.

While it is difficult to measure the direct impact of tourism promotion efforts, there is undoubtedly a 
positive impact. In 2017 the EO visitor guide was downloaded 18,000 times, they have 17,000 
followers on twitter and the visitor information centre welcomed just fewer than 500,000 people. 
They have won awards for DMO and VIC of the year very recently. They play a vital role in 
supporting and promoting tourism. Their membership has grown well over the past three years 
and they have recently taken on a new business manager to further develop their membership 
offer. 

EO is still in receipt of a funding contribution from the Council, but evolving their financial model. In 
2011 Experience Oxfordshire were given a ten year lease for City Council owned premises on 21



Broad Street. The rent was £85,000 per year and increased to £95,000 following a rent review in 
2016. The Council paid the rent by awarding a second annual grant to Experience Oxfordshire. 
The total grant contribution budgeted for 2018/19 is £173,000, made up of the £95,000 rent 
reimbursement plus a £78,000 service grant. The four year service grant agreement expires in 
March 2021. The Council’s consultation budget proposes a reduction of 20k next year then 25k 
with the remainder in year three.  The City Council will cease paying a grant to cover EO’s rent in 
2021. 

5b. Pressures and Challenges 
 
While there are significant economic benefits of tourism, it can also make the city centre feel more 
like a crowded tourist destination than an asset for local residents and workers to enjoy. There is a 
perception that many Oxford residents living in the less affluent areas seldom go into the city 
centre as they do not feel it is for them, or that those that work here do not enjoy the centre in the 
evenings and weekend.

Such high numbers of visitors also place a strain on Council services, such as keeping the streets 
clean. Large groups of tourists create additional waste; require Public Toilets, Coach Parking, and 
adequate Wayfinding. The present wayfinding scheme may benefit from improvements so visitors 
can successfully navigate their way around the centre. As a result of the redevelopment of the 
Westgate Shopping Centre and other smaller redevelopments in the city centre some of the signs 
are now incorrect but there is no budget to replace or update them. 

6. Concluding officer remarks 

It is likely, based on previous discussions and evidence available, that the case for targeted and 
heightened level of coordination around visitor management needs to be explored properly. 

Past experience in this area suggest that without a clear and realistic plan, leadership and 
resourcing, future destination management work will not be successful.

It is important to decide on what is possible, and the level of ambition we wish to show, and ensure 
resources are better coordinated alongside clear leadership. This is of course set against a 
backdrop of budgetary pressures for local government and reducing funds for tourism.

Despite significant visitor numbers and the tourism economic benefits, should further marketing 
opportunities be explored to assist with increasing tourist dwell time and encourage visitors to stay 
longer and to shop in Oxford?

22



Appendix 1 – VisitBritain Perception Survey

                            Themes and place, Visit Britain Visitor Perceptions Survey, 2018 

                                     Perceptions and place, Visit Britain Visitor Perceptions, 2018 

23



Appendix 2

Distinctive areas of the City Centre

City centres are defined by the historic phases of development and renewal that they undergo. In 
a historic city like Oxford, this has given rise to distinctive areas that have their own character, 
uses and opportunities. The character of these areas can also be harnessed further to help 
communicate their identity and improve the sense of orientation for those who use them, 
particularly those new to it such as tourists. The city centre has five areas of the city which have 
their own distinctive character and may require differing approaches to place shaping and public 
realm. The perceived boundaries of these areas do overlap to show how in practise they do 
directly relate to each other in a dynamic way.

The High: The High is the area of the city to the north and south of the High Street comprise a 
range of educational and cultural uses in historic buildings, which help to define the intrinsic 
character of the City centre. It includes a number of leading University of Oxford colleges and 
associated buildings, such as the Radcliffe Camera and the Bodleian Library which are truly iconic 
buildings that place Oxford on the world stage. This area comprises a number of listed buildings 
and lies within the heart of the City and University Conservation Area. These historic buildings, the 
spaces between them and the medieval street patterns create an attractive and interesting public 
realm providing a memorable experience for tourists and those visiting or passing through this 
area.  

Aims and opportunities for The High: The principle aim will be to support proposals and investment 
in the historic fabric of this area, which will positively improve and enhance its historic legacy. This 
approach will help to support key educational and cultural uses and strengthen Oxford’s role as a 
world-class tourist destination. Proposals to improve walking and cycling routes within this area 
and their linkages to the City centre will be supported. The High Street is a broad thoroughfare, 
and currently heavily used by buses and taxis; through the evolution of the Oxford Transport 
Strategy, there may be opportunities for part pedestrianisation. 

The Commercial Centre: This area includes the Primary Shopping Area (PSA) as defined within 
the Local Plan which comprises the main commercial uses within the city centre. Carfax Tower is 
considered to be the heart of the city. The primary shopping streets are Cornmarket Street, Queen 
Street and the eastern end of George Street and the western end of High Street. The shopping 
experience is enriched by two shopping centres the Clarendon centre and the new Westgate 
Shopping centre open in late 2017 after extensive redevelopment. The ‘Covered Market’ provides 
a distinctive retail offer together with weekly markets in Gloucester Green. Next to Gloucester 
Green is the bus terminal for services to London and local services to neighbouring towns. To the 
south-west is the Castle site which is a successful example of regeneration that includes the 
Malmaisson hotel and the historic Castle Mound.  This area comprises a number of listed buildings 
and lies within the City and University Conservation Area.   

Aims and opportunities: The redevelopment of the Westgate Shopping centre will hugely 
strengthen the retail and leisure experience for those visiting, working and living within this area. 
This may also shift the axis of the commercial centre slightly to the west of the city but will create 
opportunities for a greater mix of retail, leisure, service, office, cultural and tourist uses within this 
commercial centre. Significant improvements to the public realm will be delivered by the Westgate 
development with the formation of new public squares, it will be important to ensure that these 
measures are directly linked with the rest of the City centre as part of a programme of way-finding 
and wider public realm improvements. In line with this is the pedestrianisation of Queen Street and 
the 18 month trial now starting to remove buses entirely from this street.  With regards to 
Cornmarket, proposals to improve the public realm and street furniture need to be taken forward. 24



There is also the opportunity to create new street trader stalls and create its very own sense of 
space. Specific mention also needs to be made concerning George Street, it has become a 
food/leisure and evening destination in recent years and there is the possibility for part-
pedestrianisation and improvements to the streetscape.

The future redevelopment of Oxpens and the Station site offer significant opportunities to improve 
the connectivity and public realm that could bring real benefits to the City centre. 

St. Giles: This area comprises the land and uses around St. Giles, the main northern and perhaps 
most attractive entrance into the City centre. It runs from St. Giles church in the north down to 
Broad Street in the south. The area is characterised by University of Oxford colleges, including 
both St. Johns and Balliol. St. Giles itself is a wide attractive tree lined street, with college 
buildings of significant historic and architectural interest making an important contribution to the 
public realm. The Ashmolean, a Museum of national importance is located on the corner of St. 
Giles and Beaumont Street, directly opposite the Randolph Hotel. The main commercial uses are 
largely focused on the west side of St. Giles. Broad Street to the south includes an important 
presence from the University of Oxford including Balliol and Trinity Colleges. Towards the end of 
the street wider cultural uses flowing from the University offer some diversity, which includes the 
Sheldonian Theatre and Weston Library. The south side of the street comprises a good mix of 
retail and service commercial uses.  

Aims and opportunities: The principle aim will be to support proposals and investment in the 
historic fabric of this area, which will positively improve and enhance its historic legacy. This 
approach will help to support key educational and cultural uses and strengthen Oxford’s role as a 
world-class tourist destination. Proposals to improve walking and cycling routes within this area 
and their linkages to the City centre will be supported. The future use of Broad Street and St. Giles 
should be explored through the Oxford Transport Strategy (OTS) together with emerging Local 
Plan policies to maximise the benefits for those walking and cycling in the area. Detailed proposals 
have come forward for the partial pedestrianisation of Broad Street towards the eastern end of the 
street, which would bring real improvements to the public realm. These measures will add to the 
opportunities for a greater mix of uses and activities and promote the vitality and viability of this 
area. 

The Station Site and Oxpens: This area of the city lies to the west and is bounded by the railway 
line it comprises some key land uses such as the Railway Station to the north and the Ice Rink 
and surrounding open space to the south. It includes a number of major sites which are either 
vacant and or under-used. The walking and cycling routes to the City centre are well used but are 
not always clearly signed, providing a poor experience for those passing through the area or 
experiencing it as a visitor. In the midst of this area is The ‘Island site’: this site is bounded by 
Park End Street and Hythe Bridge Street and provides an important key link between the train 
station and the city centre. The ‘Island site’ together with the buildings on the south-side of 
Frideswide Square have recently been bought on a long-term lease by Nuffield College. The 
College is currently at the early stages of drafting a Master Plan for the future development of this 
site,

Aims and opportunities: This area of the city offers the most significant sites with development 
potential, such as the Station site, Oxpens and the Island site. Their future redevelopment, flowing 
on from the soon to be completed Westgate development, will be vital to the wider regeneration of 
the West End of the City centre. These sites have a high profile and their development particularly 
the Station site with a new train station and bus interchange has the potential to transform this 
area of the city. The new developments will comprise mixed-use schemes for residential, offices, 
R&D, retail and leisure uses that will provide the opportunity to help define the character of this 25



area and create new public spaces. Walking and cycling routes between this area and others 
within the city centre could benefit from improvements both in terms of their condition, legibility and 
make better connectivity between key sites.   Just outside the Western boundary, separated by the 
rail-way line and the river Thames, is Osney Mead Industrial Estate. If the University’s emerging 
masterplan is realised for this under-sued industrial site, and if the connectivity issues are 
managed, it is conceivable a new western innovation district, perceived as part of city centre, 
could be created in the longer-term.

Follybridge and Riverside: The Follybridge is located to the south of the City centre, which acts 
as a gateway to the city linking St. Aldates to Abingdon Road. The area around St. Aldates 
comprises a mix of uses including educational, commercial shops and offices and administrative 
buildings such as Crown Court, Magistrates Court. Adjacent to Follybridge there are some tourist / 
visitor related uses including a boat-hire business, pub and restaurant.       

Aims and opportunities: This area around Follybridge has the potential for making better use of its 
tourism and service offer. It is situated next to the River Thames which does offer opportunities for 
adding to the transport connections around the city. The proposal is to develop a ‘riverside 
strategy’, which would extend out beyond city centre and seek to encourage more visitors walk or 
cycle in, or simply enjoy these areas. A riverside cycle improvement scheme is already being 
explored by the City and County Councils with a view to providing more direct and quicker routes 
around the city. 

26



1 
 

Oxford Local Plan 2036  
Background Paper – Preferred Options stage, June 2017 
 

Hotels and short‐stay accommodation in Oxford 
 
1. Introduction and purpose of this paper 
 
This background paper sets out the key evidence to support the development of preferred 
options and emerging policies for the Local Plan 2036. The evidence will be used to inform 
the future location and amount of hotel and short‐stay accommodation within the city.   
 
This paper supplements and updates the Sustainable Tourism Background Paper that was 
published as part of the Issues stage of consultation in 2016, to explain any changes since 
then and new evidence. 
 
2. Policy context 
 
National policy 
National advice is set out by Government in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF, 
2012. There is a clear ‘presumption in favour of sustainable development,’ which would be 
assessed according to 12 overriding principles. Of particular relevance to this background 
paper is the requirement for future provision of hotels and short‐stay accommodation to be 
considered within a ‘genuinely plan‐led’ approach that will ‘proactively drive and support 
sustainable economic development,’ and encouraging the ‘effective use of land’ and the 
promotion of ‘mixed‐use developments.’ 
 
This should be planned within a framework that seeks to actively ‘manage patterns of 
growth’ favouring sustainable locations, such as town centres, that make the fullest use of 
public transport, walking and cycling. The delivery of sustainable development is necessary 
to build ‘a strong competitive economy’ that will secure economic growth to create jobs and 
prosperity to support an economy fit for the 21st Century. This should be carried out within 
a clear ‘economic vision and strategy’ for local and inward investment to meet the future 
needs of existing business sectors, such as the hotel and tourism sector that is important to 
Oxford’s economy. The role of town centres and the promotion of vitality and viability will 
be critical to their future success.   
 
Oxford Economic Growth Strategy 2013‐2023 
The City Council and its partners have sought to take a proactive approach to Oxford’s 
economy by working in partnership with key stakeholders and business. The Oxford 
Strategic Partnership (OSP) commissioned consultants (Shared Intelligence) to develop an 
Oxford Economic Growth Strategy (OEGS).  The OEGS defines the role of the city, ‘Oxford is 
a national asset and essential to the future of the UK and the regional economy as a whole.’ 
The productivity and competitiveness of the city is clearly expressed in its contribution to 
the national economy. Tourism is critical to Oxford’s economy and has an international 
reputation.  
 

27



2 
 

Amongst the key recommendation  is therefore the aim of extending the value of Oxford’s 
tourism across the region. This will be achieved through the development of an Action Plan 
and actively working with partners, particularly Experience Oxfordshire and the Destination 
Management Organisation  to  extend  the  tourism  and  cultural  offer  and  event  calendar. 
Other key measures will include the need to increase the quality of the tourism offer and to 
extend the range of tourist accommodation in particular the provision of hotels in Oxford to 
extend trips and visitor expenditure across the region.   
 
Strategic Economic Plan (SEP) 
Oxfordshire’s  Strategic  Economic  Plan  (SEP)  has  been  developed  by  the  Local  Enterprise 
Partnership (LEP) in partnership with the business community, academic institutions and the 
Local Authorities and was submitted to Government on the 31st March 2014.  This sets out 
the long term vision and ambitions for economic growth in the county. The scale, ambition 
and  deliverability  of  the  SEP  will  form  the  basis  of  Growth  Deal  negotiations  with 
Government and determine Oxfordshire’s allocation from the Local Growth Fund (LGF). The 
overall vision for the Oxfordshire Strategic Economic Plan  is that by 2030 “Oxfordshire will 
be  recognised  as  a  vibrant,  sustainable,  inclusive  world  leading  economy,  driven  by 
innovation, enterprise and research excellence.” 
 
An updated version of  the Strategic Economic Plan  (SEP)  for Oxfordshire was published  in 
2016 and which takes  into account evidence that has become available since the  first SEP 
was produced  in 2014 considered  the  important  role played by other key  sectors  such as 
tourism.  This  update  includes  new  strategies  relating  to  skills,  innovation,  culture  and 
heritage, and natural resources and the environment. It acknowledges the changing context 
for Oxfordshire’s economic well‐being. The report responds to substantial engagement from 
the county’s businesses, universities,  research  institutions,  local authorities, voluntary and 
community  sectors,  and many  of  its  residents.  Like  its  predecessor,  this  refreshed  SEP 
signals a strong ongoing commitment to sustainable economic growth across the county. 
 
The  SEP  refresh  recognises  the  importance  of  historic  buildings  and  the  environment  in 
Oxfordshire  and  the  role  they  play  in  attracting  tourists  and  making  a  significant 
contribution to the local economy.  
 
3. Economic importance of tourism 
 
Economic impact of Tourism in Oxford (2015)  
This assessment was undertaken by consultants, Destination Research on behalf of 
Experience Oxfordshire. The key headline was that there were some 6.6 million trips to 
Oxford of which the largest proportion 83% (5.5m) were day trips, with the remaining (17%) 
1.1m overnight stays. Tourists spent £625 m during their visits to the area, with an average 
of £52 m spent in the local economy every month. The spend on overnight visits is £387m 
which is about 1.5 times greater than irregular day trips that accounts for £235m. Taking 
into account the wider multiplier effects tourism does account for an overall total spend of 
some £800m in the local area. There is a total of 13,823 jobs supported for both local 
residents and those living nearby. Of this total 10,193 comprise jobs directly supported 
tourism as compared to 3,360 additional non‐tourism related jobs linked to the multiplier 
spend from tourism. 

28



3 
 

 
The research compared the economic impact of domestic overnight tourism with overseas 
overnight tourism. This showed that the overall number of overnight visits for domestic was 
0.6 m very similar to overseas visits at 0.5 million. The number of overseas overnight trips 
(3.1m) is about twice as many as domestic (1.5m) overnight trips. The spend by overseas 
visitors (£262m) is just over double that of domestic (£125m).  
 
The study carried out a comparison between 2015 and those figures for 2014. This showed 
that the number of day trips measures by volume had fallen slightly by‐2.8% to 5, 501,004, 
but when measures by value there was an increase by 2.2%. The number of overnight trips 
has increased marginally by 0.3% to 1,093,000 in 2015, whilst the number of staying nights 
had increased by 1.6% to 4,577,000. The most significant change was in the total staying 
spend which showed a greater increase of 5.3% to £386,717,000. The total value of tourism 
in 2015 has increased slightly by 2.3% (£799,816,000) as compared to 2014. The total actual 
tourism related tourism in 2015 is estimated to be 13,823 jobs, which represents a slight 
increase of 3.9% compared with 2014. This represents 11.3% of all employment in Oxford.  
 
4. Supply of hotels in Oxford 
 
Hotel provision  
Business rates data shows that there are 26 hotels and 46 guest houses in the city.  In 2007, 
the Oxford Hotel and Short Stay Accommodation Study found that the city had 23 hotels 
and 74 guest houses together providing 2,416 rooms, 72.5% of which were at the hotels and 
27.5% at the guest houses. (In addition there were 3 hostels, 34 serviced apartments, 61 
self‐catering units and 6,500 rooms at the colleges.)  In the previous 5 years the hotel supply 
had increased by 17.6% and the guest house supply had reduced by 6.9%.   
 
Figure 1 Hotel provision in Oxford over time 

Year  2002  2007  2017 

No of hotels  20  23  26 

Number of guest houses  79  74  46 

 
Recent research undertaken by the City Council shows the following overall increase in hotel 
provision since the earlier study was carried out in March 2007. This assessment is based on 
the data collected and published as part of the Annual Monitoring Reports (AMR’s) for the 
following eight years up to 2015. The table below shows the latest published position, which 
is taken from the 2015/2016 AMR.  

29



4 
 

 
Figure 2 Supply of short stay accommodation bedrooms (completed developments) 
2007/08‐2014/15 
 
In  terms  of  trends  this  shows  that  there  was  a  decline  in  the  number  of  short‐stay 
accommodation bedrooms available from 2007/08 to 2009/10, which was  likely a result of 
the wider  economic  downturn.  However,  since  2010/11  the  situation  has  been  steadily 
improving, with  the number of  short‐stay accommodation bedrooms  surpassing  the Core 
Strategy baseline for the first time in 2012/13. The 2014/15 monitoring year has shown the 
biggest  annual  increase  to  date,  with  a  net  increase  of  44  short‐stay  accommodation 
bedrooms (Table 9). Based on these figures, there were a net total of 55 additional short‐
stay  accommodation  bedrooms  available  in  2014/15  in  comparison  to  the  Core  Strategy 
2007 baseline. 
 
In terms of sites coming forward and investment in the hotel market the following sites 
show the principle areas of interest as follows: 
 
Recent hotel completions: 

- Planning permission was granted to Travelodge for a new hotel with 83 bedrooms, 
on appeal on the Abingdon Road, which in an out‐of‐centre location. This 
development is now completed; 

- Planning permission has been completed for a 87 bedroomed hotel operated by 
Holiday Inn on land adjacent to the Priory public house in Grenoble Road, 
Littlemore, which is in an out‐of‐centre location.  

- A new boutique hotel (Vanbrugh Hotel) has been completed and is fully operational 
in St. Michael’s Street in the City centre, which comprises 22 bedrooms; 

- Extension and change of use of dwelling to provide 10 hotel bedrooms, Four Pillars 
Hotel, Abingdon Road 

- Significant refurbishment work has been carried out to the Old Parsonage in St. 
Giles, City centre to provide 5 bedrooms  

2559

2546

2524
2517 2522

2536

2561
2570

2614

2460

2480

2500

2520

2540

2560

2580

2600

2620

2640

2007
Baseline

2007/08 2008/09 2009/10 2010/11 2011/12 2012/13 2013/14 2014/15

30



5 
 

- Extension to the Oxford Spires Hotel in Abingdon Road to increase the number of 
bedrooms by 10 

- Erection of two‐storey side extension to provide an additional 4 guest bedrooms, 25 
London Road, Headington 

- Erection of single storey building to form staff accommodation and conversion of 
existing staff accommodation to provide 3 additional guest bedrooms, Red Mullions 
Guest House, 23 London Road, Headington 

- Change of use and extension of property to form 4 x 1 bed holiday apartments 
- Change of use of property to guest house, Osney Arms, 45 Botley Road, Oxford of 11 

rooms 
- Conversion of house into guest house (6 beds), 228 London Road, Headington 
- Extension to provide staff accommodation and 9 guest bedrooms, Coach and Horses 

62 St Clements     
 
Benchmarking hotel provision 
The Bath Hotel Future 2015 Study, published in July 2015 comprised a detailed assessment 
of the supply and demand for hotel accommodation. This study included an assessment of 
comparable historic cities which included Oxford, Cambridge, York, Chester and Exeter.  
 
Figure 2: Benchmarking hotel provision 
 

  Number of 
establishments 

Number of rooms 

Oxford  33  2040 

Bath  35  1715 

Cambridge  32  2377 

York  58  3222 

Chester  35  2176 

Exeter  33  1733 

 
Oxford (33) had the same number of establishments as Exeter (33) and very slightly more 
than Cambridge (32) but slightly less than Bath (35) and Chester (35).  York however had 
almost double that of Oxford and the other comparable cities with a total of 58 short‐stay 
establishments. In terms of rooms York has the greatest number of bedrooms with 3222, 
which is over 840 more than Cambridge. Whilst Cambridge has over 340 more than Oxford 
and 200 more than Chester; and over 600 more than Exeter and Bath.  
 
The study showed that ‘hotel development trends have been similar across all six 
comparator cities between 2009 and 2015.’ These trends have included a ‘general move 
upmarket’ with the ‘upgrading of 3 star hotels as 4 star and boutique hotels, the opening of 
a new 5 star and boutique hotels in some cities, and some loss of poorer quality 2 star / 
lower grade hotel stock’. New Premier Inn and / or Travelodge budget hotels have opened in 
most of the cities and the supply of serviced apartments and aparthotels has gradually 
increased.’   
 
 
 

31



6 
 

5. Hotel investment 
 
Outstanding planning permissions 
There are more potential hotel investments in the development pipeline.  These include: 

- Three‐storey extension to existing hotel to provide 63 additional bedrooms, Premier 
Inn, The Longwall Garsington Road, Cowley 

- The Oshmanti Group has received planning permission to convert 15‐19 George 
Street in the city centre into a 40 bed 4 / 5 star hotel  

- Planning permission was granted at the Eastgate Hotel, City centre, for an extension 
to add 12 bedrooms and upgrade this 4 star hotel  

- A planning application was submitted by Indigo for a hotel on the Cooper Callas site 
within the City centre, but due to the scale of the proposed development was 
refused permission. A revised planning application has now been submitted. The 
proposed development comprises a six‐storey building with 140 bedrooms.  

- Change of use of workshop to form hotel bedroom, Malmaisson Hotel, New Road 
- Change of use of upper floors to hotel, 107 St. Aldates 
- Change of use of offices to additional hotel use (5 beds), Old Parsonage Hotel, St. 

Giles 
- Three‐storey infill extension, 253 and 255 Cowley Road 

 
Future opportunities 
Further opportunities are provided through existing site allocations and other policy 
provisions: 

- Northern Gateway Area Action Plan (AAP) has now been adopted and includes an 
allocation for a new hotel (up to 180 beds) in this out‐of‐centre location; 

- The Barton Area Action Plan has been adopted and an outline planning permission 
has been granted for a major residential development Barton (885 houses) to 
include the potential for the provision for a hotel (120 beds); 

- In the City centre there is potential for the additional provision of hotel 
accommodation (150 bed) on the Oxpens site, which includes the prospect of a new 
hotel within the adopted Oxpens Master Plan Supplementary Planning Document 
(SPD); and 

- There is an opportunity for a new hotel on the Oxford Station site. A joint 
agreement between the City Council, County Council and Network Rail has been 
working together to promote the redevelopment of this site. Some Draft Master 
Planning work has already been undertaken and a competition held to explore some 
of the key design principles.  The draft Station Supplementary Planning Document is 
also being consulted on in summer 2017. 

 
Benchmarking hotel investment 
The Bath Hotel Study (2015) looked in detail at the current and future activity within the 
comparator cities. Oxford has experienced some growth and interest in the ‘boutique 
sector’ and within the ‘budget sector’ but other comparable cities have shown even greater 
activity. 
 
The study assessed the period between 2009 and 2015 to measure the recent activity in the 
hotel market within the six comparable cities, as summarised in Appendix 1. The city 

32



7 
 

experiencing the most significant growth was York with 11 new hotels being built within the 
period, followed by Cambridge with 8 new hotels and Chester with 6 hotels. Exeter only had 
5 new hotels recently completed comparable with Oxford who had only 4, whilst Bath 
experienced the least growth with 2.  
 
As for the type and sector of growth at the top end of the market Bath and York both had a 
new 5 star hotel, whilst the 4 star hotel activity was restricted to extensions to existing 
hotels in Bath, Chester and Oxford. The boutique sector seemed attractive to these historic 
cities with York having 3 new hotels, Oxford and Chester 2 each and 1 for Cambridge and 
Exeter respectively. There was minimal activity in the 3 ‐ star market with York the only city 
to increase its stock of accommodation but this was only by way of an extension. The 
Budget sector which includes Premier Inn and Travelodge, showed the most significant 
growth during this period with four new hotels in Cambridge, three in Exeter, two in York 
and one each in Bath and Chester; and overall increasing the total number of bed spaces by 
1395. Serviced apartments showed an increase with four in York, three in Cambridge and 
two in Chester and Oxford. There does seem to be a rise in interest within the aparthotel 
market as well with two new buildings in Exeter and one each in York and Chester.         
 
6. Performance of hotel sector  
                      
UK and regional performance 
Hotel Britain Report (BDO) 2016 provides a definitive assessment of the performance of UK 
hotels during 2015 and the trends likely to influence the market in 2016. This report states 
that ‘regional hotels continued to experience strong growth in 2015 although at a slower 
pace compared to 2014’s stellar results with occupancy up by 1.1% to 75.9% setting a new 
record in occupancy levels’. However the Annual Average Room Rate (AARR) was the main 
driver for regional hotels. Average room rate was up 4.0% to £63.15. As a result of the 
increases in occupancy and AARR, regional UK hotels’ rooms yield grew by 5.1% to £47.94 in 
2015. 
 
Hotels in the regions have experienced the fifth consecutive year of rooms yield increase 
and high rates of growth overall since 2013 and continue to outperform their London 
counterparts, which shows likely positive growth potential for Oxford. The report suggests 
that 2016 is ‘poised to be another year of growth for the UK economy, with ‘GDP growth 
expected to be around 2.0% per budget.’ Visit Britain 2016 forecasts are also positive and 
expect the number of visits to the UK to rise by 3.8%, reaching approximately 36.7m and 
visitor spending expected to be £22.9bn representing an increase of 4.2% on 2015 results.  
 
The Hotel Britain Report 2016 provides some useful information to assess the performance 
of hotels in the UK which includes statistics on yields, occupancy, and average actual room 
rates for 2015. The average occupancy rate for all hotels in London was 82.8%, whilst the 
regional average for all hotels was 75.9%.  
 
Benchmarking hotel performance 
A comparison has been undertaken to assess the performance of Oxford in relation to some 
comparable historic cities, including Bath, Cambridge, Chester and York, as set out in 
Appendix 1. This showed that in 2015 Oxford had an occupancy level of 80.6%, which is 

33



8 
 

higher than the regional average and almost as high as the average for London hotels. 
Oxford’s occupancy level was the same as Cambridge and higher than both York and 
Chester, but below that for Bath (84.5%). The next indicator used to assess performance 
was the achieved room rate (AARR), which showed that in 2015 Oxford had achieved £71, 
which was slightly below Cambridge (£72.2) and just above Chester and York but well above 
Bath. The third indicator is the average daily rooms yield this showed Oxford to be £57.2, 
which was just below Cambridge but higher than Chester and York and significantly higher 
than Bath. Overall these findings show the strength of the Oxford hotel market and the 
capacity available to support further hotel provision within the city.    
 
7.1 Drivers for growth and trends within the hotel sector 
 
Drivers for growth 
Key sectors identified for growth in Oxford’s hotel market are: 

- Growth in corporate demand; including  conferences and residential conferences;  
- Growth in demand from the contractors market, particularly given the number of 

major construction projects planned in and around the City; 
- Potential for significant growth in leisure break demand given the development of 

new hotels and other types of short‐stay accommodation, particularly in the City 
centre; 

- Strong growth in demand from overseas tourists, particularly for City centre hotels, 
guesthouses and serviced apartments, especially with the weaker pound at present; 
and 

- Scope for the growth in the weddings and visiting friends and relatives markets as 
population grows and the University expands.  

 
Trends and potential threats to the hotel sector  
In 2007 the Hotel Study predicted strong growth in the budget hotel sector, with continued 
expansion by Premier Travel Inn, Travelodge and Express by Holiday Inn, and new budget 
hotel brands. This trend does appear to have continued in Oxford since 2007, with interest 
from Travelodge and Premier Inn.  
 
The second trend identified was growth the 3 to 4 star market small boutique and town 
house hotel chains, such as Hotel du Vin and Malmaison. This trend also appears to have 
continued since 2007 as shown by the completion and opening of both the Malmaison Hotel 
(City centre) and the Vandburgh Hotel (City centre). 
 
The trends identified by the earlier study, referred to above, still appear to be very much in 
evidence since then and are considered likely to continue. More recently however The Hotel 
Britain Report 2016 report suggests some new trends. Amongst these emerging trends 
within the market could potentially be the growth of some new formats for short‐stay 
accommodation and in particular the rise of the Airbnb type offer.  PricewaterhouseCoopers 
have been regularly surveying hotelliers on a range of issues including the threat posed by 
the Airbnb type offer.  Their survey in 2014 of 35 UK hotel chains (accounting for around 
169,000 UK hotel rooms) found that 10% of hoteliers admitted they had seen a decrease in 
demand as a result of Airbnb activity but most thought sharing economy business models 
were not (yet) a significant threat to traditional business models. Two years on (2016) their 

34



9 
 

research revealed that more had seen demand impacted negatively although many hoteliers 
continue to regard sharing economy platforms as a low to moderate threat to their 
traditional business model; almost 60% had not seen, or did not admit to seeing, new 
sharing models impacting their business – this compares to 79% in 2014. They conclude that 
hoteliers’ attitudes could be partly because this is a stealth competitor and hoteliers find it 
hard to accurately measure the impact on hotel performance. 
 
In addition there may be new ‘financial models’ such as the emergence of ‘crowdsourcing 
hotels’ approach currently being explored in London, as an alternative source of finance for 
their properties and even influencing the design of new hotels.  
 
The BDO research further suggests that there are likely to be a number of other changes 
within the hotel sector that could influence the market and how it operates. These could 
include in 2016 a peak being reached in the transaction market, with activity soaring in 
recent years; together with the continuation of the ‘brands’ dominating the market, leaving 
less room for the boutique style hotels. It is expected that 90% of new builds will come from 
the main brands.  
 
Whilst it is forecast that growth in the hotel market will continue there is however concern 
over the wider global instability both political and economic. Brexit may impact most 
significantly on the regional hotel performance, such as in Oxford. The operation of hotels is 
expected to be effected to a degree by the introduction of the ‘living wage’ with operators 
seeking to pass on these costs to the customers, whilst sub‐contracting and the outsourcing 
of work may become more commonplace.      
 
8. Summary conclusions 
 
Policy approach 
The future provision of hotels and short‐stay accommodation should be considered within a 
‘genuinely plan‐led’ approach that will ‘proactively drive and support sustainable economic 
development,’ and encourage the ‘effective use of land’ and the promotion of ‘mixed‐use 
developments.’ This approach should positively seek to plan for further hotel provision and 
improvements to the quality of the existing supply of accommodation to encourage visitors 
to stay longer and spend more. The role of ‘town centres’ and in particular the City and 
District centres will be required to take an active role in supporting the provision of short‐
stay accommodation.  
 
The Preferred Options Document makes it clear that the city seeks to prevent the loss of 
existing short‐stay accommodation to other uses.  Alongside this there is a preferred 
approach to permit new proposals in the city centre, district centres and on Oxford’s main 
arterial roads.  This approach would encourage further provision of accommodation which 
would contribute to Oxford’s long term goal of encouraging a higher percentage of visitors 
to stay overnight, facilitate corporate travel to support local businesses, and therefore 
benefit the economy.  Allowing short stay accommodation in the centres will also enhance 
the vibrancy of these areas in lien with the NPPF approach. 
 
 

35



10 
 

Performance of existing hotels in Oxford 
The Hotel in Britain Report 2016 confirms that ‘regional hotels continued to experience 
strong growth in 2015 although at a slower pace compared to 2014’s stellar results with 
occupancy up by 1.1% to 75.9% setting a new record in occupancy levels’.  
 
The performance of existing hotels in Oxford taking into account key indicators such as 
occupancy, room rate achieved and yields as compared to both regional and comparable 
cities shows that there is clearly demand for more accommodation within the city.   
 
In 2015 Oxford had an occupancy level of 80.6%, which is higher than the regional average 
and almost as high as the average for London hotels. Oxford’s occupancy level was the same 
as Cambridge and higher than both York and Chester, but below that for Bath (84.5%). In 
relation to other key indicators such as achieved average room rate (AARR) and daily room 
yields Oxford performed well in comparison to other similar historic cities such as Chester, 
York, Bath and Cambridge. Overall these findings show the strength of the Oxford hotel 
market and the capacity available to support further hotel provision within the city to meet 
this ‘unmet’ demand and to help generate future economic growth.      
 
Increase in supply of hotel space  
Overall since 2007 there has been significant interest in the hotel sector which has resulted 
in two new hotels being completed on the outskirts of the city including Travelodge in 
Abingdon Road providing 83 new bedrooms and the development of a Holiday Inn Express 
with 87 bedrooms. Some modernisation to existing hotels has taken place such as an 
extension to the Four Pillars Hotel in Abingdon Road, just outside the City centre, which 
provided a further 10 bedrooms and a major extension to the Premier Inn, Longwall, Cowley 
of 63 bedrooms next to the Business Park. 
 
Within the City centre itself a new boutique style hotel (Vanburgh) creating 22 bedrooms 
has been completed and is now fully operational. This has been in addition to the 
refurbishment and investment carried out in the existing stock, which includes the Old 
Parsonage (5 beds) and Eastgate Hotel (12 beds) and an additional 40 bedrooms at 15‐19 
George Street. 
 
More recently a planning application has been approved by committee for the development 
of a new hotel by the Dominvs Group comprising 140 bedrooms at the former Cooper Callas 
site, 15 Paradise Street.  
 
Development opportunities 
There are sites already allocated within the adopted Local Plan including allocations for new 
hotels in the City centre (Oxpens) and on the outskirts of the city (Northern Gateway). In 
addition there are other sites coming through the ‘pipeline’, but opportunities for additional 
hotels and short‐stay accommodation should be explored further within the Local Plan 
2036. Priority should be given towards sites within ‘town centres’ and in particular the City 
centre and District centres and within any emerging ‘transport hubs’, which provide a focus 
for sustainable travel options and or main arterial roads which are well served by public 
transport together with cycling and walking options.   

36



11 
 

Appendix 1 Recent changes in hotel supply between comparable cities during 2009 to 2015 
 

City  5 star 
number / 
beds  

4 star  Boutique  3 star  Budget  Serviced 
apartments 

Aparthotels  Total 
Hotels   / 
Beds 

Bath                 

hotels  1                  99         1                108                       8    2              215 

extensions     
41

            
41 

Cambridge                 

hotels      1                   48    4                631  3                 31    8              710 

extensions                 

Chester                           

hotels      2                 103    1                120  2                 13  1              64  6              300 

extensions    2             130            2              130 

York                 

hotels  1               107    3                 123    2                210  4                29  1               15  11           377 

extensions         1                24          1             24   

Oxford                 

hotels       2                   32      2                21    4               53 

extensions    1               14            1               14 

Exeter                 

hotels      1                   10    3               326    2              18  5             354 

extensions                  

Totals  2             206 
 

3             185  9                 316  1                24  11           1395  11           102  4              97    

Source: Bath Hotel Futures Study 2015 
 
 
 

37



12 
 

Hotel performance of comparable historic cities 2015 

City  Occupancy (%)  AARR (£)  Rooms yield (£) 

  2011  2015  % ch 
14/15 

CAGR  
11‐15 

2011  2015  % ch 
14/15 

CAGR 
11‐15 

2011  2015 
 
 

%ch 
14/15 

CAGR 
11‐15 

Oxford 
 

73.8  80.6  2.1%  2.2%  57.10  71.00  14.3%  5.6%  42.13  57.22  16.7%  8.0% 

Bath 
 

76.3  84.5  6.5%  2.6%  49.7%  57.95  12.7%  3.9%  37.93  48.98  20.1%  6.6% 

Cambridge 
 

75.7  80.6  1.3%  1.6%  56.37  72.21  14.9%  6.4%  42.65  58.17  16.4%  8.1% 

Chester 
 

67.5  76.0  2.1%  3.0%  56.00  69.54  13.5%  5.6%  37.78  52.82  15.9%  8.7% 

York 
 

78.7  79.6  ‐2.9%  0.3%  59.14  69.50  10.7%  4.1%  46.57  55.35  7.5%   4.4% 

Source: Hotel Britain 2015 I The Guide to the performance of hotels in the UK (BDO Leisure and hospitality services) 
 
Definitions:   
Room occupancy: the ratio of total occupied rooms to total availability 
Average achieved room rate (AARR): rooms revenue divided by the total number of guest rooms occupied during the year 
(Average daily) rooms yield: room occupancy multiplied by the average achieved room rate (also known as RevPar) 
Compound Annual Growth Rate (CAGR): average growth rate on an annualised basis 
 

38



Submission to the Oxford City Council Tourist Management Committee – 14 March 2019 

Robert Smith and Lucy Scott 
 

1 
 

The views and opinions expressed in this article are those of the authors and do not necessarily 

reflect the position of the Tourism Management Review Group or the Council. The Council does not 

necessarily recognise the data drawn upon within the article.  

Introduction 

We are two North Oxford Residents who are dismayed to see the streets of North Oxford used as a 

free parking lot for short-stay tourist coaches and angered by their dangerous blocking of cycle 

lanes. In this paper we present our views on what do to solve this problem, along with some 

evidence and our own research into the issue. 

Tourist Coach Parking - High level problem statement 

 Oxfordshire County Council and Oxford City Council have failed and are failing, in our 

opinion, to provide adequate coach parking spaces and facilities for tourist coaches. In 

summer 2018 we estimated there were between 195 and 260 tourist coaches a day, but 

only 28 advertised spaces at Redbridge Park and Ride. 

 As a result, coaches are parking for free where they can, often in side streets in North 

Oxford, but also on the Oxpens Industrial Estate and lay-bys on the major trunk roads that 

serve Oxford. Coach drivers are breaking their own regulations in doing so 

 There are numerous infractions of law and undesirable behaviour exhibited by the coach 

drivers, including parking in resident bays, keeping engines running, parking in bus and cycle 

lanes and unsafe manoeuvres 

 Without positive action by the 2 councils, the coach parking situation can be expected to 

deteriorate in 2019, as the number of tourists to the UK is forecast to increase by 3.5% while 

the number of advertised tourist coach parking spots decreases to 141 

 Oxford City Council is working towards a zero emissions zone in the centre of Oxford.  

Our high level recommendation 

 Day tourist coaches are banned from accessing Oxford streets within the ring road, and 

instead are required to park in a new designated and controlled coach park and ride facility 

outside of the ring road or better, in an existing park and ride, such as Water Eaton 

 Introduce park and ride fees for coaches using the facility. Set these fees at £80 for standard 

coaches and £35 for minibuses. The fee includes the fares for passengers to the centre of 

Oxford special purpose park and ride buses.  Using our assumptions and estimates, P&R fees 

raised, before any expenses, would be in the range £4.2 - £5.6 million per annum.  This 

compares to an estimated £100,000 per annum currently achieved at Redbridge 

 Recommend Oxfordshire County Council invest in high capacity (100-150 person) electric 

buses to operate every 10 minutes along the relatively straight road from Water Eaton to a 

drop off point in St Giles. Oxfordshire would also invest in infrastructure both at Water 

Eaton and St Giles to ensure coach drivers welfare and efficient tourist flows, and in initial 

awareness raising and extra traffic wardens. These capital and other up-front expenditures 

would be recovered within 18-24 months 

 We understand that revenues from parking charges can only be used for highways, and 

given the poor state of roads in Oxfordshire, a net income of say £4 million would 

                                                           
1
 Planning application 18/01590/CT3 accessed on 1 March 2019 

http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s43776/1801590CT3%20%20Redbridge%20Park%20and%20Ride%
20report.pdf 

39



Submission to the Oxford City Council Tourist Management Committee – 14 March 2019 

Robert Smith and Lucy Scott 
 

2 
 

significantly enhance the current £11 million carriageway repair budget, or allow money to 

be repurposed for other council priorities.   

Benefits of Recommendations 

 No coaches will be parked illegally, in North Oxford, and elsewhere 

 Coach drivers will benefit from proper rest facilities at the park and ride, significantly 

reducing the number of coach driver regulation infractions  

 The reduction in coach traffic along Oxford inner roads will reduce CO2 emissions within the 

ring road by up to 850-1,130 tonnes per annum2    

 Large vehicle traffic will be lighter within the ring road, especially on the Woodstock and 

Banbury Roads, but potentially also the heavily congested Botley and Abingdon Roads 

 The additional revenues from coach parking will contribute significantly to improving the 

quality of Oxfordshire roads 

 A well-designed site at Water Eaton could lead to additional savings on bus services 

connecting Oxford Parkway Rail Station and the Town Centre through amalgamation of 

services. 

Drawbacks of recommendation 

 Day tourism numbers may decline in the short-term due to the higher cost of coach 

journeys, and tourism spend may decrease by £2 million if day tourist numbers decrease by, 

say, 10%. This is a tiny proportion of the total tourism economy in Oxford. Mitigation: 

Responsible coach companies will pass on the park and ride cost to passengers as part of 

their fare and this is insignificant compared to the cost of the tour package 

 Potential industrial action by coach companies may reduce tourism numbers further than 

10%. Mitigation: through awareness raising around the benefits to the drivers themselves 

 There will be less capacity for cars at Water Eaton – difficult to mitigate without increasing 

capacity elsewhere 

 Concentrating tourist disembarkations in St Giles may lead to objections for some colleges 

and businesses – however most coach tourists disembark there already 

 Contingency for bus breakdowns dictate a relatively large fleet of tourist park and ride buses 

 There may be issues with high capacity buses operating next to cycle lanes. For this reason 

Banbury Road offers the safest solution. The issue is also mitigated as the drivers will be 

highly experienced compared to coach drivers who are unfamiliar with the route and Oxford.  

Alternative solutions considered and rejected 

We looked at two other solutions: 

 Development of a mobile phone app that collects parking fees (similar in size to those 

recommended) and directs coach drivers to available coach parking spots based on their 

route and spot availability. This would require the identification and designation of adequate 

parking spots throughout Oxford, for example, at other park and ride sites, Osney Industrial 

Park, lightly used school bus parking spots, and underutilised central parking, such as outside 

                                                           
2
 A coach generates 822gm per km of CO2 according to 

https://www.carbonindependent.org/sources_bus.html Accessed 4 March 2019. It is assumed that electric 
buses produce zero emissions within the ring road and that coaches are all petrol/diesel driving for 15km 
within the ring road.  

40

https://www.carbonindependent.org/sources_bus.html%20Accessed%204%20March%202019


Submission to the Oxford City Council Tourist Management Committee – 14 March 2019 

Robert Smith and Lucy Scott 
 

3 
 

County Council offices, and Worcester Street car park. We rejected this as there are only 

marginal emissions benefits, marginal traffic improvements and there would be problems in 

identifying non-paying coaches.      

 A similar idea that causes coaches to register at lay-bys on approach roads to Oxford (A40, 

A34, A420, A44) and receive an identifying disk and permission once parking payment has 

been made. This is slightly better solution as rogue coaches can be identified, however, 

there would be other unpoliced routes into Oxford.  

Acknowledgements 

We would like to thank a number of political persons who have facilitated our thinking around the 

coach parking issue.  

In particular we would acknowledge the advice and encouragement we received from our city 

councillors: 

 Louise Upton 

 Mary Clarkson 

 Alex Hollingsworth 

 James Fry 

 Susanna Pressell 

 Tom Landell-Mills 

 James Fry 

 Mike Gotch 

 Dick Wolff 

 Andrew Gant 

 Colin Cook 

And Oxfordshire County Councillors: 

 John Howson 

 John Sanders 

 Ian Hudspeth 

And MP: 

 Layla Moran 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Public email address redacted. 

Support us on Twitter by following @FedUpInOxford and follow the debate on #oxfordcoachparking

41



Oxford City Council Tourist Management Committee - Robert Smith and Lucy Scott 

Annex 

 

4 
 

Research and Observations 

We decided to investigate for ourselves the reasons why coach drivers were parking casually in Oxford, and to 

obtain some basic data on the scale of coach parking.  

We achieved this by cycling around the area defined by Banbury Road from St Giles up to Marston Ferry Road, 

looking specifically for parked coaches in the side roads to the west, i.e. towards Walton Manor and Jericho 

and to the east (Norham Manor). We also looked at the designated and former coach parking areas at Oxpens 

and Redbridge Park and Ride.  We interviewed drivers who had parked in North Oxford and Redbridge.    

We carried out a survey of coach movements over a period of 1 hour on a July Saturday morning at the 

junction of Woodstock Road and Banbury Road, where these merge into St Giles. This spot was chosen as 

these roads feed the coach drop off point at the Taylorian Institute in St Giles.  

We web-researched readily available information on coach parking charges in major tourist destinations to 

determine what others destinations were doing.  

North Oxford  

We spoke to the 5 drivers of coaches parked in resident only bays on the side roads off Woodstock and 

Banbury Roads. 4 had come from London and one from Northampton and they had entered Oxford through 

the Northern routes. None of the coach drivers was aware of the Redbridge Park and Ride coach parking 

scheme. None of the drivers wished to pay for parking and none had money advanced from their employers 

for parking. None of the drivers were provided with information about Oxford from their employers. All drivers 

were used to being “moved on” by residents if asked, and none had ever received a parking fine in Oxford (but 

some were not regular Oxford drivers). The drivers might had acted differently if there was proper information 

about Redbridge and signposting on how to get there. One coach we did not speak to was parked outside of 

Wychwood School against the local parking regulations but in a suitable coach parking spot for a Saturday – 

there are three spots there.   

Over a 9-month period we observed the following major infractions: 

 The majority of coaches parked in North Oxford were parked in resident parking bays 

 In the heat of summer, a significant number of drivers kept their engines running to power air 

conditioning for their own comfort 

 One company repeatedly parked its coaches in the bus lane in Woodstock Road, north of Plantation 

Road 

 One driver cooked a meal on a busy pavement in Woodstock Road beside his coach parked in a no-

parking bay 

 Two coaches doing three-point turns on Botley Road during the rush hour.  

Oxpens 

Oxpens car park comprises a double level car park and an open area, formerly a coach park, now primarily 

spaces for blue disabled badge car drivers. The coach park had been shifted after the old shopping centre car 

park had been pulled down. The open area park was basically empty, even on the busiest of Saturdays.  

Redbridge Park and Ride 

We spoke to five drivers in this depressing, but full, site. The coach area is cordoned off from the rest of the 

park and ride by moveable bollards. There are no facilities for the drivers at all in the area – which is 1 hour 

walk from the centre and 10 minutes from the only shop in the area (Tescos in Abingdon Road). We noticed 

that a number of parking bays (7) were occupied by campervans and one by a hire van.   Payment is 

convenient through a app. 

42



Oxford City Council Tourist Management Committee - Robert Smith and Lucy Scott 

Annex 

 

5 
 

We asked the drivers about illegal parking. They noted that although North Oxford was favoured, coaches that 

could not park at Redbridge were forced to park in laybys on the ring road, and also in the side streets around 

the lower Abingdon Road. We have personally witnessed many laybys on the A34, A420 and A40 with tourist 

coaches. One driver estimated the number of illegal parking coaches at 100-200 each summer day.  

All drivers complained that the inability to leave their coaches to rest properly was against driving law, which 

requires drivers to take a proper rest and recreation away from their coaches when their tachometers record 

rest time. A review of PSV375, the UK Government guide does not seem to support this contention, however, 

the lack of facilities was striking as was the poor state of the coach park. 

In relation to the 2018 pilot by Oxfordshire County Council to move-on coaches at St Giles the drivers felt that 

this was unnecessarily confrontational and wasn’t tackling the issue as they were not being told where they 

should move on to. One driver complained that to empty his 91 person double decker bus at St Giles takes 

longer than 5 minutes allowed and longer to load up. There is a £75 fine for taking longer than 5 minutes 

apparently.    

The drivers were of the opinion that Coventry provides an excellent coach parking model, and that Oxford was 

among the worst, with Brighton taking the last position. 

Coach Movement Survey 

We also carried out a survey of coach movements on Saturday 21 July 2018, at the junction of Banbury Road, 

Woodstock Road and St Giles. Highlights of the survey:  

 91 tourist coach movements in one hour (9:30 to 10:30), 52 coming into St Giles and 39 leaving for 

the North.  

 Only 50 of the 91 involving coaches with passengers, so 41 were either heading to N Oxford to park or 

were coming back from there to pick up their passengers.  

Coach Parking Charges 

There is a significant shortage of coaching spots in Oxford to deal with the spike in Summer visitors. Oxford 

City provides some of the cheapest coach parking charges in the major tourist areas. The table shows prices 

accessed from the web on 15 July 2018. 

Tourist town From (short term) To (typically 8 hours) Notes 

 £ £  

Oxford 5.00 10.00 Higher rate for >4 hours 

Cambridge 10.00 10.00 Flat rate 

Stratford 1.00 6.00 Higher rates than this for 
>9 hours 

Canterbury 15.00 15.00  

Brighton 9.00 16.00 Higher rate for over 4 hours 

York 6.50 13.00 High rate for over 3 hours. 
Summer rates – winter is 
cheaper. 

Windsor 10.00  
 

30.00 Can purchase in advance 
(17.50 for up to 4 hours 
and 25.00 all day).  

Bristol 12.00 12.00  

Bath 5.00 14.00 Higher rate for >8 hours 

 

Raw Computations 

We can conservatively compute some raw coach number estimates from available web data and using other 

observations as triangulation 

43



Oxford City Council Tourist Management Committee - Robert Smith and Lucy Scott 

Annex 

 

6 
 

Oxford City Council announced that the numbers of tourists visiting Oxford is 7 million in 2016
3
, of which 5.85 

million were day trippers, 80% of whom visited in non-winter months. From this we can make a first guess that 

the average day visitors are 20,000 derived from 5,850,000*(100/80)/365. It is thought that the number of day 

visitors has increased since 2016. 

No details of the day-tripper mode of transport was provided in the Destination Research report. We are 

assuming that most of these day trippers arrive by public transport (scheduled rail and bus) or through 

chartered coaches, rather than by car, and that many arrive by chartered coach. For the purposes of this 

exercise we conservatively estimate that 30%-40% of day trippers arrive by coach, i.e. 6,000-8,000 per day 

outside of the winter months.  

We assume the average standard coach carries 56 persons (range 47 to 90), and a minibus 20 (range 18-25)
4
, 

with 80% of tourists arriving in standard coaches and 20% minibuses. We further assume coaches are carrying 

75% load, an average of 42 and 15 persons per coach respectively.  

Using these assumptions, 6,000 -8,000 persons suggests 195-260 coaches per day are arriving in Oxford during 

the non-winter months. Of these we estimate that approx 60% are standard coaches and 40% minibuses.   

We can triangulate this calculation through two additional pieces of research,  

 our one hour survey suggesting that 50/91*52 = 29 coaches in 1 hour entering the drop off area in St 

Giles from the Northern corridor – in 10 hours this would provide 290 coaches just from this one 

corridor. This also suggests the calculations are conservative.  

 casual observations of drivers parked at Redbridge suggesting 100-200 illegally parked coaches per 

day during summer months. 

Policy Considerations 

Changing tourist demand 

Culturally speaking, we feel that Oxford is welcoming to foreigners and outsiders, reflecting its own 

population, which is incredibly diverse. Oxford should continue to be a place which welcomes tourists. 

The numbers of tourists visiting the UK in the short to medium is not expected to decrease, despite Brexit.
5
 

2019 visitors are expected to be up by 3.5%. 

There have been a large number of press articles in the last year suggesting that the number of tourists, 

especially day tourists, is at levels where both the resident and tourist experience is degraded. 
6,7

 

However, tourism is an important economic and job generator for Oxford and Oxfordshire, hence policy 

changes that might reduce jobs and adversely impact the economy should be borne in mind. It is noted that 

the quality of economic benefit for Oxford from coach day trippers who spend very short periods in Oxford 

                                                           
3
 Destination Research Report accessed 1 March 2019 from https://www.experienceoxfordshire.org/wp-

content/uploads/2018/02/Economic-Impact-of-Tourism-Oxford-2016-Report.pdf 
4
 Quora Question accessed 1 March 2019 https://www.quora.com/How-many-seats-are-on-a-standard-

private-coach-bus 
5
 https://www.visitbritain.org/2019-inbound-tourism-forecast accessed 1 March 2019 

6
 https://www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/news/oxford-tourist-hell-overcrowding-residents-locals-complain/ 

accessed 5 March 2019 
7
 https://www.marketplace.org/2017/10/23/business/too-many-tourists-amid-oxfords-dreaming-spires, 

accessed 5 March 2019 

44

https://www.visitbritain.org/2019-inbound-tourism-forecast
https://www.telegraph.co.uk/travel/news/oxford-tourist-hell-overcrowding-residents-locals-complain/
https://www.marketplace.org/2017/10/23/business/too-many-tourists-amid-oxfords-dreaming-spires


Oxford City Council Tourist Management Committee - Robert Smith and Lucy Scott 

Annex 

 

7 
 

(typically 60-90 minutes) must be considered low. It has been stated that average coach tourist spends £6 in 

the city
8
 

Policies that provide control of the numbers of day trip tourists are likely to be well-received by Oxford 

residents and such policies will not necessarily have an adverse effect on the tourism economy.   

We therefore conclude that active control over day trip tourism which is made through non-scheduled public 

transport (chartered coaches) is desirable and possible.  

Coach Parking - Current supply of coach parking spots 

Oxford has a chronic shortage of coach parking spots. We were unable to determine the total numbers, but we 

understand that only 28 spots are available at Redbridge Park and Ride, and that these are also available for 

other vehicles such as campervans. We understand that other spots are available at other park and rides, 

including Oxford Parkway, but that these are not publicly advertised as coach parking. The Oxford City Council 

website only mentions Redbridge Park and Ride
9
.     

We understand that the spots at Redbridge Park and Ride arose due to the closure of Oxpens coach park, and 

that Oxpens is now permanently repurposed for development following the completion of the Westgate 

Shopping Centre.  

We understand that planning permission has been granted to decrease the number of Redbridge spots to 14. 
10

 

The reduction in supply of coach parking spots, coupled with the expected increase in tourism, is expected to 

give rise to further pressures on coach drivers to park “where they can”.  

Increasing the supply of coach parking spots 

It is clear that, even if measures are put into place to reduce the numbers of day tripper tourist coaches, that 

without proper planning, the numbers of parking places would be woefully insufficient.  

Identifying suitable places is difficult without displacing car parking. We have noted that the outer park and 

rides offer the most likely solutions, but only if there is infrastructure in place for parking. 

Reducing the demand calls for more dramatic measures, which challenges the views held that “Oxford needs 

more tourists”. To reduce demand, a levy on tourist coaches, equivalent to £1.70 per head, would potentially 

reduce demand, but at the very least would generate income that could be used for the following: 

 Funding the infrastructure required to enforce the levy. This might include (i) app development 

(booking, availability, payment) (ii) the cost of inspection and compliance  

 Funding improved coach parking and driver facilities 

 Purchasing a small fleet of high capacity electric buses to be used as tourist park and ride buses 

 Paying ongoing operating costs of (i) the coach park and ride system, and (ii) ongoing vigilance and 

compliance 

 Funding improvements to the road system in Oxfordshire, which is in a poor state of repair 

                                                           
8
 @BBC Oxford tweet 7 Aug 2018  - Tourism 'killing Oxford' according to city business owner who says the 

average coach trip visitor spends just £6 
9
 Accessed 1 March 2019 

https://www.oxford.gov.uk/info/20078/parking_in_oxford/490/parking_for_coaches_lorries_and_mini_buses 
10

 Planning application 18/01590/CT3 accessed on 1 March 2019 
http://mycouncil.oxford.gov.uk/documents/s43776/1801590CT3%20-
%20Redbridge%20Park%20and%20Ride%20report.pdf 

45



Oxford City Council Tourist Management Committee - Robert Smith and Lucy Scott 

Annex 

 

8 
 

Oxford would be the first city in the UK as far as we can see to introduce a levy of this nature, but being first is 

not a crime! 

Why £1.70? – the cost of a family of 4 parking in the Redbridge Park and ride is £6.80 (5 is the same price). The 

average coach capacity is 56 persons, and we are assuming average used capacity of 42. (15 for minibus 

occupancy). We assume that the levy would be based on the normal coach capacity, so that standard coaches 

pay more and mini coaches less. We also assume, confirmed in our discussions with the drivers, that the coach 

operators would pass this cost on to the tourist. Prices of coach day trips to Oxford range from £10 (if booked 

as a group) to £120 per person for non-group advertised tours.  

Flat rate per coach or per passenger? – To simplify the system, and to ensure that relatively empty coaches 

are penalised, we recommend a flat rate for coach. There are three basic types of coach – double decker and 

standard coaches which we would recommend a levy £80 and minibuses, which we recommends a levy of £35.  

Exemptions – exemptions to coaches within the ring road would apply for school coach trips from authorised 

permanent state and private kindergarten, primary, secondary and tertiary educational establishments located 

in Oxford (but not covering pop up or summer schools) and other exemptions at the council’s discretion, such 

as school trips from other schools in Oxfordshire.  

Which periods? – Oxford appears to receive 80% of its day-tourists in the 9 non-winter months, with 

December also quite heavy. We would propose that the levy apply throughout the year, although there is an 

argument that it should be reduced for the relatively quiet months of November, January and February.  

Winners and losers 

 “Proper” coach companies are likely to support the measures because of the ability to pass on the 

cost to the end users (at present the parking fee is a non-reimbursed overhead), and because of the 

improved facilities for drivers 

 Residents of Oxford are likely to support the measure because of the reduction in illegal parking and 

improved behaviours in the historic town centre 

 Environmentalists are likely to see improvements in air quality from the elimination of coaches inside 

the ring road and needless journeys to find parking spots 

 Retail businesses are likely to object because of a fear of loss of revenue from reduced tourist 

numbers. This might be offset by increased number of shoppers who are currently not coming into 

Oxford because of “tourist hell”.  The types of coach tourists who might not come are generally not 

those who spend vast sums, given they are herded around the sites rather than being allowed to 

shop, eat and drink unhindered 

 Some coach tourists will object as it increases their cost of tourism   

 Oxford County Council will significantly benefit financially and it is up to the City Council to square this 

away.  

 

  

 

46


	Agenda
	3 DISCUSSION WITH EXTERNAL GUESTS
	Background Reading List
	Tourism Management Report
	Hotels and short stay accommodation in Oxford 2017
	Public Submission - 14 March


